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Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a proposal for assessnment of civil
penalty filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to Section 110(a) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 820(a). The petitioner seeks a penalty assessnent
of $650 for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard 30
CFR 75. 1105, as noted in a Section 104(a) notice no. 2015155,
served on the respondent on January 18, 1983, by MSHA | nspector
Sanuel J. Burnatti.

The respondent filed a tinmely answer in this matter and a
heari ng was conducted in Johnstown, Pennsylvania, on Decenber 1
1983.

| ssues

The principal issue presented in this proceeding is (1)
whet her respondent violated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenting regul ations as alleged in the proposal for
assessnment of civil penalty filed in this proceeding, and,
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if so, (2) the appropriate civil penalty that should be assessed
agai nst the respondent for the alleged violation based upon the
criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act. Additiona

i ssues raised by the parties are identified and di sposed of in
the course of this decision

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions

1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, Pub. L.
95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. 0820(i).
3. Commission Rules, 29 C.F.R [2700.1 et seq.

Sti pul ations
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 6-10):

1. Respondent is a coal mne operator subject to the
jurisdiction of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act
of 1977.

2. The Section 104(a) citation in issue in this case,
as well as a subsequently issued Section 104(b) order
were duly served on the respondent's agents at the mne
in question by an authorized representative of the
petitioner.

3. Respondent's Wndber Mne 78 produces coal on an
intermttent basis and at the tine the citation issued
its annual coal production was 417,145 tons. The parent
corporation, Bethlehem M nes Corporation had an overal
1982 annual coal production of over seven mllion tons,
but that its 1983 coal production is expected to be
significantly reduced.

4. Assuming the fact of violation is established, a
reasonabl e civil penalty assessnent will not adversely
affect the respondent's ability to continue in

busi ness.

5. From approxi mately 1976 to Decenber 1, 1983, MsSHA
has issued no prior Section 104(b) Orders at the W nder
M ne 78.

During the two-year period preceding the date of the

i ssuance of the citation in issue in this case,
respondent has been assessed for 84 viol ations, none



~1013
of which were for violations of mandatory
standard 30 CFR 75.1105.

6. During the period 1976 to Decenber 1, 1983, 37
di fferent MSHA inspectors inspected the Wndber M ne
78, during 688 inspection days.

During the period between February 10, 1982, and
January 18, 1983, the North Main Section of the W ndber
M ne 78 was inspected on 16 occasions and no citations
or orders were issued for alleged violations of

mandat ory standard 30 CFR 75.1105, with respect to the
battery charging station

Di scussi on

Citation No. 2015155 states the follow ng condition or
practice:

Wen checked with a snoke cloud the current of air
ventilating the North Main charging station was not
bei ng coursed directly to return in that the current of
air was entering the #3 intake entry and coursing up
into the working section

The inspector fixed the abatenent tinme as 8:00 a. m, January
19, 1983.

On January 19, 1983, at 8:50 a.m the inspector issued a
Section 104(b) Order No. 2015156, in which he stated as foll ows:

Little or no effort was nade to direct the current of
air ventilating the North Mains battery chargi ng
station to return.

On January 20, 1983, a second MSHA i nspector, David B
Al sop, termnated Gtation No. 2015155, and the justification for
this action states as foll ows:

The current of air ventilating the North Main charging
station was being coursed into the return air course. A
14 foot piece of plastic pipe 3 inches in dianmeter was
extended out into the charging station and extending
back to the 4 inch vent pipe in the stopping wall.

Al so, an 8 foot
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pi ece of deflector canvass was installed on
the outby side of the charging station. A
hole was left in the 4 inch pipe at the
stopping to allow air to enter there and al so
at the end of the 3 inch pipe.

Petitioner's testinony and evi dence

MSHA | nspector Samuel J. Burnatti testified as to his
background and experience, which includes service as a
ventil ation specialist since May 1983. He confirmed that he
conducted an inspection at the mne on January 18, 1983, and that
he issued the citation in issue for a violation of section
75. 1105, exhibit P-1. He also confirmed that at the tine of his
i nspecti on he was acconpani ed by respondent’'s representative Tom
Korber, and UMM representative Rex Mrgart (Tr. 17-20).

M. Burnatti stated that he issued the citation after
observing a battery charging unit partially out in the intake
entry, and the current of air that was ventilating the unit was
not being coursed to the return. He confirmed this by making four
snoke tube readings. He identified exhibit P-7 as a sketch of the
area and the charging unit in question. He stated that he drew
t he sketch, and he explained the notations on the sketch as the
| ocati ons where he nade the snoke tube tests. He stated that four
of the tests indicated that the air used to ventilate the unit
was going into the intake, but that a test made directly at the
wal | at the back of the charging station and directly in front of
a pipe protruding fromthe wall, indicated that the air at that
| ocation went out through the pipe (Tr. 20-23).

M. Burnatti testified that section 75.1105 requires that

all ventilation of the battery charging station will be coursed
directly to the return, and since his snoke tests indicated that
it was not, he issued the citation. He indicated that the intent
of the cited section is to insure that any hydrogen gas fromthe
batteries, or any snoke which may result fromany equi pment fires
woul d be pulled through the pipe in the wall into the return air
and out of the mne (Tr. 24).

M. Burnatti stated that at the tinme he observed the cited
condition the charging unit was energized with the power on, but
that no equi pment was in the charging station itself. He
i ndicated that the "three inch vent pipe" notation on his sketch
was an error, and that the pipe was a four inch pipe (Tr. 25). He
identified exhibit P-5 as a copy of notes which he made, and he
expl ai ned his notations (Tr. 28-31).
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M. Burnatti confirmed that he nade several suggestions as to how
the violation could be abated, and these included the use of a
"fly curtain,” and extending the pipe further out fromthe wall.

He al so suggested noving the unit fromout in the entry to a

| ocation along the left side wall of the station, but not in the
corner, or nmoving it across the station to the right side wall.
He indicated that noving the unit was not necessary to abate the
citation, and he denied that he insisted that it be noved.

Al t hough he indicated that he was not totally famliar with the
state | aw requirenents for venting the charging unit, he did
state that the state inspectors do not want the unit inby the
batteri es being charged because it creates a hazard (Tr. 31-33).
He indicated that the respondent could have noved the unit "into
the left side" of the charging station "or noved it across to the
right side,"” and that this would have abated the citation and
woul d have al so conplied with state law (Tr. 33). He marked these
locations with an "x" mark on his sketch (Tr. 35).

M. Burnatti stated that he has observed other battery
charging units in the mne, and that they are placed "basically
in the same area, but they are not outby, the end of this tin or
the rib." He stated that the other units he has observed "are
i nby the crosscut inby the tin" (Tr. 36).

M. Burnatti indicated that in the instant case the | ocation
of the charging unit was a violation of section 75.1105, because
the way it was positioned the intake air was going directly over
it, and since "it was slightly outby the edge of the tin, as |ong
as that air is passing over, and going up into the section,
can't see how you could achi eve conpliance" (Tr. 37). Under the
ci rcunmst ances, the snoke tests he nmade were "a formality" (Tr.
36) .

M. Burnatti stated that he initially fixed the abatenent
time at "roughly twenty-two hours™ (Tr. 32), but that when he
returned to the area the next day, he observed that a three inch
pi pe had been inserted into the existing four-inch pipe and
extended outby fromthe wall, and he identified its | ocation on
his sketch. He al so descri bed an opening or gap between the two
pi pes, and confirmed that he made anot her snoke tube test at that
time (Tr. 38). He stated that a Kersey battery powered tractor
was in the station, and when he took snoke readings directly over
the tractor battery and the charging unit itself, he determ ned
that the air exiting the charging station was going back into the
i ntake escapeway (Tr. 39). Wen he inquired as to why the
condition had not been corrected, Mne Foreman Andy Sal ata
advi sed himthat some work had been done on the pipe and that he
"assunmed it was okay" (Tr. 39).
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M. Burnatti confirmed that he issued the Section 104(b) order
because he believed that extending the tine further would pose a
possible fire or ignition hazard, and the Kersey battery was
bei ng charged at this tinme. He al so believed that the respondent
was not diligent in attenpting to neet his initial abatenent tine
because it took little time to install the three-inch pipe, and a
snoke test woul d have indicated where the air was going. He
deni ed that the issuance of the order had a disruptive effect on
m ni ng operations, and he believed that general |aborers could
have been used to achieve tinely abatenent and work coul d have
continued at the face while the corrections were being nmade (Tr.
41).

M. Burnatti explained his "negligence"” and "gravity"
findings on the face of his citation as follows (Tr. 41-42):

Q Wth reference to the negligence, you have narked
l ow, could you explain to the Court, what nmade you
decide that the negligence with reference to the 104a
was originally | ow?

A Well, | felt in this case, here, that due to the
fact that you are tal king slight nmovenent or |ow vol une
of air, to detect it, you al nbst need a snoke cl oud and
that's why ny--normally, wthout the use of a snoke
cloud, it wouldn't be detected by a foreman, or anybody
el se, and the snoke clouds are not nornmally carried
with them

Q So that's why you considered the negligence | ow?
A. Yes.

Q Wth reference to gravity, would you explain to the
Court, why you marked the reasonably likely box, and
the | ost work days, or restricted duty?

A | felt that it would be reasonably likely, was the
fact that this condition would continue to exist, and
the fact that that area was dry, and you have

el ectrical equiprment and cable, and the fact that the
nunber three entry is the primary intake escape way,
for the north mains section, was nmy reasons there, then
the I ost work days, and restricted duty, | felt that
possibly, it would be the snoke, | don't feel that it
woul d be fatal or pernmanent disabling,
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due to the fact that the section does enpl oy
anot her escapeway, an alternate escapeway, and
this unit, I think, | believe is only four or
five cross cuts outby the working section

Q And you have the nunber 7, indicating the nunber of
persons affected, are those the same seven people you
tal ked about working at the face?

A Yes.

M. Burnatti explained that the | ocation of the charging
unit placed it slightly past the tin wall of the charging station
into the nunber 3 entry, and that when he returned to the area
the day after he issued the citation the unit had not been noved
(Tr. 44). He further explained his negligence" findings as
follows (Tr. 45):

JUDGE KQUTRAS: You have never seen a mne operator take
a snoke cloud reading to determ ne whether or not the
nmovenment of air over a battery charger station?

THE WTNESS: No, |'ve never seen it.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Are you suggesting fromthat, had they
taken one, and detected that the air was not being
forced into the return, that they should have alerted
them they should have done sonething to the battery
chargi ng station?

THE WTNESS: Yes, and | feel that the fact, the way
that the charging unit itself is positioned, should
alert them

On cross-exam nation M. Burnatti conceded that the sketch
of the location of the charging unit which is in his notes,
exhibit P-5, seens to place it further within the area of the tin
wal | than it appears on his sketch made in August 1983, exhibit
P-7. The later sketch places the unit further into the entry, and
he conceded that the two sketches "are slightly different” (Tr.
50). He indicated that the |later sketch represented the |ocation
of the unit on both January 18 and 19, 1983 (Tr. 49).

M. Burnatti stated that he was certain that the pipe he
observed at the time the citation issued on January 18, 1983, was
a four inch pipe, rather than a three inch pipe as initially
noted (Tr. 51-52). He also indicated that the
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pi pe he first observed at the back wall of the charging station
while "slightly" protruding fromthe wall, was "flush" to the
wall. He reiterated that the purpose of that pipe was to vent the
battery charging station, which he described as a "three-sided
tin enclosure" (Tr. 53-54).

M. Burnatti stated that on the day he issued the citation
there were three or four mners on the section, but that mning
was not taking place on that shift (Tr. 57). He confirnmed that he
checked the battery charging unit and found nothing wong with it
(Tr. 58), and he expl ained his concern over a possible fire and
gas hazard as follows (Tr. 58-60):

Q Fire hazard, now did you check the battery charging
unit, to see if it was defective in any way?

A. 1 checked in a general way, yes.
Q And was it--it was perfectly okay?

A 1 wouldn't say it was perfectly, but it was found to
be okay.

Q Didyou find anything wong with it?

A. No.

Q Now, if this event occurs, well, are you saying that
the actual occurrence of a fire, is reasonably likely
her e?

A. If the condition would stand uncorrected, yes.

Q Well, the condition that you saw was i nproper
ventil ati on, how does that cause a fire?

A. That woul d take your snoke, or your hydrogen gas,
out into your intake entry, which in turn travels up
i nto your working section.

Q Then you are not saying that the occurrence of a
fire, or the occurrence of production of hydrogen gas
is reasonably likely, you are just saying if--in the
event that those occur, the snmoke might go up the

i nt ake?

A. Yeah, or with the hydrogen gas, you could have an
expl osi on.
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Q But if those events occurred, well, the first
day that you were there, there wasn't anything
bei ng charged, was there?

A. No, no equi prment was bei ng charged.
Q So without anything being charged, the first day

that you were there, there was no hydrogen gas,
obvi ousl y?

A No, sir.

Q And you didn't take any sanples to test that first
day?

A No, sir.

Q The second day that you were there, there was a unit
on charge, did you take any sanples that day to see if
t here was hydrogen gas bei ng produced?

A No, sir.

Q So you don't know the second day whether or not,
there was any being produced at all?

A. No.

Q In addition to hydrogen--isn't hydrogen sul phite
produced by batteries sonetines, when they are being

char ged?
A. I"'mnot sure, | just know that they emt hydrogen
gas.

Q And of course, to have an expl osion from hydrogen
gas, you have to have a source of ignition, do you not?

A. Yes, sir.

Q And in this case, the source of ignition is the
battery charging unit, if it is close to the hydrogen
gas, is that correct?

A Well, it doesn't necessarily have to be close, if
that gas is passing over it, and it should short, or
the piece of equipnment itself, short out, that's your
i gnition.
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Q kay, the first day, there wasn't a piece of
equi prent according to you, and the charging unit
seened to be in good condition, is that correct?

A Yes.

M. Burnatti confirmed that the respondent made some effort
to tinmely abate the citation, but he believed it was a "little
effort." He also confirmed that conpany officials advised him
that they could not nove the charging unit "because the state
said that they couldn't.” He indicated that company officials
asked himto speak with the state i nspector who was there at the
time the order was issued, but that he did not do so (Tr. 62). He
al so indicated that he did not check the Kersey machi ne that day
to see if there was anything wong with it (Tr. 63).

M. Burnatti stated that he was on the same section on
January 14, 1983, prior to the time the citation was issued, but
since he was in the face area he "probably" did not visit the
cited battery charging station and would not have wal ked past it
(Tr. 65). He confirmed that he did not neasure the anount of air
going by the charging station in the intake at the tinme he issued
the citation, but he agreed "there was probably a consi derable
anmount of air" present (Tr. 65).

M. Burnatti confirmed that after issuing the citation he
di scussed with M. Korber ways to correct the conditions, and
these included installing "a solid check up, and enclosing it, a
fly check to redirect the air current, or to nove the charging
unit itself, or enlarge the pipe." He al so suggested that the
pipe in the wall be extended or enlarged (Tr. 66-67). He
expl ai ned how the tractors and scoops travel to the charging
station, and he confirnmed that the sizes of the vent pipes which
he noted were approximate, and while he had a ruler in his
possessi on, he did not neasure the pipes in question (Tr. 67-71).
He explained that the four inch pipe in the wall was about four
and a half feet off the floor, and the extended three inch pipe
was hung fromthe ceiling with a wire (Tr. 72).

M. Burnatti explained the direction of the air ventilating
the charging station, and estimted the di nensions of the station
as 16 feet deep and 20 feet wide (Tr. 74-78). He stated that
power for the charging unit comes froma trailing cable fromthe
section |l oad center power station located inby in the working
section. No batteries are stored in the charging station, and al
of the batteries are charged
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whil e on the equipnent. The charging unit is on skids and can be
moved by pulling it with a tractor or by hand (Tr. 96-97).

David Al sop, MSHA training specialist, testified that prior
to April 1, 1983, he worked on ventilation and respirabl e dust
for eight years. He testified as to his MSHA training and
background, and he confirmed that he visited the mne in question
on January 19, 1983, to conduct a respirable dust inspection (Tr.
109-111).

M. Alsop identified exhibits P-2 and P-4 as copies of the
term nations of the citation and order issued by |nspector
Burnatti. He explained that since he was at the mne, mne
managenment asked himto | ook at the work done to abate the order
After checking with his supervisor at MSHA's district office, he
did so and abated the citations. He stated that he observed that
the respondent had installed a canvas check curtain and extended
a three inch pipe sone 14 feet to force the air ventilating the
battery charging station into the return. He confirmed this by
means of a snoke tube, and since conpliance was achi eved, he
termnated the order (Tr. 114-116).

M. Alsop identified the 14 foot |ong extended pipe as a
pl astic pipe extending froma four inch pipe in the wall. The
ext ended pl astic pi pe extended out over the top of the charging
unit, and when he checked the air current at several |ocations in
the station he found that it was going into the pipe (Tr. 117).
He explained the location of the pipe and curtain by marking it
on the sketch (Exhibit P-7, Tr. 118).

On cross-exam nation, M. Al sop stated that when he abated
the order, a UMM representative was with him and he expressed
sati sfaction over the respondent's abatenent efforts (Tr. 120).
He term nated the citation because that is what he believed had
to be done in order to process the citation through the
assessnment office (Tr. 124-125).

Rex A. Mdrgart, testified that he is enployed by the
respondent and that he serves as the Chairman of the UMM M ne
Safety Conmittee. He confirned that he was the wal kar ound
representati ve who acconpanied M. Burnatti during his inspection
on January 18, 1983. He stated that he could not recall whether a
tractor or a scoop was parked in the battery chargi ng station at
the tinme the citation was issued. He also stated that the
charging unit was on, but that M. Korber tagged it out when M.
Burnatti advised himthat there was a problem (Tr. 256-257).
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Joseph D. Hadden, Jr., Senior M ning Engineer, Ventilation
Di vi sion, MSHA Pittsburgh Health and Technol ogy Center, testified
that he has been enployed in the ventilation division for el even
years. He stated that he holds a BS degree in mning fromthe
University of Pittsburgh, and that he has first and second grade
m ne papers in the State of Pennsylvania, nmine foreman papers
fromthe State of West Virginia, and that he is a registered
prof essi onal engineer in the State of Pennsylvania (Tr. 261).

M. Hadden confirnmed that he is famliar with the facts and
testinmony in this case, and that based on his interpretation of
section 75.1105, all of the air (100%, used to ventilate the
battery charging station is to be directed directly into the
return air course (Tr. 262). Wen asked how that was possible, he
of fered the foll owi ng suggested nethods (Tr. 262-263):

A. One nethod would be is what was di scussed here
earlier today. Moving the stopping wall back so that
the crosscut is deeper so, that this turbul ent zone
woul d be further renpved from where the equi pnent woul d
be at.

Anot her nethod woul d be to increase the size of the

pi pe, the vent pipe, so that it would increase the air
quantity that was flowing in the crosscut into the
return.

A third possibility would be to enclose the front of
the charging station, with a door. And, through that
door have a small opening. It would act as a regul ator
to allow a neasured quantity of air to flowinto the
encl osure and then out the vent pipe and into the
return.

Q And, upon what do you base those ideas or that
criteria? Has that been tested by MSHA, or has that
ever been done anywhere el se?

A. The third idea, there were a series of tests run
ei ght or nine years ago, and there is publication out
onit. Called, "Controlling snoke froma fire-proof
structure underground.” And, this was the basis of

t hose tests.

So, if afire did develop, say, in the battery charging
station, the fire or conmbustion couldn't enter the
intake air streamwhere it would be transported up to
the face.
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On cross-exam nation, M. Hadden further explained his
recommendati ons for achieving conpliance with his citation (Tr.
263-272; 275-280).

Respondent' s testi nobny and evi dence

Thomas F. Korber, respondent’'s shift mne foreman, testified
as to his background and experience, and he confirmed that he
acconpani ed I nspector Burnatti during his inspection of January
18, 1983. After examining M. Burnatti's sketch, exhibit P-7, he
stated that the cited charging unit was |ocated "right at the
corner” of the charging station tin wall and that it did not
extend beyond that point. He also indicated that a three inch
pi pe which extended fromthe station wall, over and across the
belt, and into the return, was a "normal setup” for a battery
charging station at the mne. The only difference fromother mne
charging stations was the fact that other stations were deeper
(Tr. 129-131).

M. Korber stated that when he first went to the charging
station area on January 18, 1983, a Kersey tractor or scoop was
bei ng charged, but coal was not being produced that day. Two nen
were on the section, and they were bolting (Tr. 133). M. Korber
stated that when he saw that Inspector Burnatti had questioned
the charger unit, he pulled the power fromthe section power
center and tagged out the charging unit plug so that it would not
be energized (Tr. 134). However, he did not renove the equi pment
whi ch was bei ng charged.

M. Korber testified that when Inspector Burnatti tested the
air with his snoke tube, it was not going out of the pipe in the
wal | very well, and there was "very little suction.” M. Korber
checked and found that one of the pipe joints was |oose, and
after putting it back together the air was "drawi ng better at
that point,"” but M. Burnatti was not satisfied since he insisted
that all of the air had to be vented through the pipe (Tr. 135).

M. Korber stated that in the past nost MSHA i nspectors did
not use snoke tubes, and they sinply put their hand over the pipe
to determne if there was any suction. If suction was present,

t hey never questioned the ventilation. He stated that a
three-inch pipe was at the wall, and he told M. Burnatti he
woul d install a larger one to induce better suction (Tr. 136).

M. Korber stated that after the citation issued he
contacted his supervisors Andy Sal ata and Bobby Breck, and they
advi sed himnot to nove the charging unit "because
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we woul d have trouble with the state.” Prior MSHA inspectors who
| ooked at the mine charging stations "out where it was | ocated
here" never advised himthat he was in violation of the law (Tr.
138).

M. Korber stated that his boss instructed himto get
material so that the next shift could renove the three inch pipe
fromthe wall and install a four inch pipe. He returned to the
charger unit |ocation the next day with M. Burnatti and the
power plug was still out, but the tractor or scoop was stil
parked at the charger. M, Korber indicated that M. Burnatti was
upset because the charger had not been noved "inside" and that he
indicated that "we do very little to show good faith to abate his
violation" (Tr. 139). M. Burnatti infornmed himthat he wanted
t he charger nmoved in because he was still going to take his snoke
test over the charger, the unit, and the batteries. M. Korber
was of the opinion that the air flow on the next day i nproved
with the installation of the larger pipe (Tr. 140).

M. Korber stated that it was difficult to see where the
snoke was goi ng when the tube was broken because of air swirling
caused by turbul ence. The fourteen foot piece of pipe was
installed after M. Burnatti left on the day after the citation
i ssued (Tr. 141). However, M. Korber was not present when M.

Al sop abated the violation (Tr. 142). He expl ained his actions
the day after the citation issued as follows (Tr. 142-143):

Q Now, you weren't there when the actual, when M.
Al sop cane in to abate the violation, were you?

A. No.
Q What was done to abate it, as far as you know?

A. After M. Burnatti left, nyself and M. Sal ata

di scussed what we would do. W saw, in order to, so
that we could use that piece of equipnent that was
bei ng charged, which it wasn't being charged then
because, | had the power off. But, so that we coul d get
it out of there and start using it again, and start
chargi ng pi eces of equi prment again, we decided, you
know, we better put that fourteen foot extension on
there to satisfy the federal. So, that's, and then we
put a check across, partially across the intake there.
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Q As it is shown on P-7?

A Yes.

Q Now, just to clarify things. The second day, when
you went in there the Kersey, or the tractor, or the
scoop was still there, was it charging?

A. Not the second day, no.

Q You said you tagged it out, or put a piece of paper
wi th your nanme on it?

A Yes.

Q When you unplugged it, what was your intention by
doi ng that?

A. | saw that we was going to have a problem you know,
with the federal, and I didn't want to, anything to be
di sturbed there, so | took the power off of it.

| figured the power better be off of it, and stay off
of it until we settled this dispute here, and you know,
| told everybody not to bake the tractor, or the scoop
out of that charging station, just |eave everything

al one.

Q When you say you told everybody, who did you tell?

A. Well, ny tag on the plug, nobody could put it back
in. It had my name on it so | had to renpove it. But,
told the other shifts, the foreman on the other shift,
and then there woul d be no question about it.

On cross-exanm nation, M. Korber described the battery
charging station tin walls as follows (Tr. 143-144):

Q M. Korber, with reference to the tin wall that was
in the battery charging station, did that tin wall
extend out into the crosscut, out into the intake
entry?

A. No.

Q Was it flush with the rib, I nmean, did it end
exactly where the rib ended?
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A It was, it cone out, the whole way out
the crosscut, it just nmade sonewhat of a
curve. Not clear out into the intake entry,
no.

Q But, it did not stop at the rib line? The tin wall?

A. It cone out, nore or less, right beside the rib
line, it just made a curve, it just, the |ast piece of
tin, what |I'm saying, was just bent to nmake the curve.

Q And, where did the charging unit end? Did it foll ow
that curve?

A It was right at the end of the tin?

Q Where the tin ends, when you say the end of the tin,
do you nean the curve?

A. Right at the curve piece, right at the curve piece
Q Wiere it started to curve?
A Um hmm

M. Korber stated that after the four inch pipe was
installed he did not test the air ventilating the charging
station, but he believed that the next shift did. However, he did
not know whet her records were nmade of the tests, and he was not
aware of the test results. He indicated that one of the shift
foremen told himthat the |arger pipe was drawi ng out nore of the
air (Tr. 145-147).

M. Korber confirmed that no one noved the charger unit to
ascertain whether nmoving it would take care of the problem (Tr.
154). In response to further questions, M. Korber testified as
follows (Tr. 154-158):

JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, why didn't, on an experinenta
basis, was it ever suggested to anyone, "Hey, let's
move it in and see if it works?" Because, if you noved
it inand it didn't work, no one did that did they?

THE W TNESS: No

JUDGE KOUTRAS: No one actually noved this unit back to
see whether that woul d take care of the problenf?
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THE WTNESS: No, sir. Right.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: kay. And, the reason you didn't is
because you were afraid that you were going to run
afoul the state people, right?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: You indicated earlier that on prior
i nspecti ons, when other MSHA inspectors were in there,
all they did was go up and put their hand on the pipe
to see if there was suction, that satisfied thenf

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: M. Burnatti was the only one that went
in there and used a snoke tube?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, as far as | know, the first

i nspectors that went in there, and put their hand

agai nst suction, didn't know whether that air that was
ventil ating, whatever the heck it was ventilating, and
it actually went out that return, did they?

THE WTNESS: Not in the sense of |ooking at snoke, no
But, also, I'mnot saying that they didn't check. They
did check both sides of the pipe.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: My point is this, if there's a scoop, or
a piece of equipnment in that area, being charged, and
an inspector walks in there, sees two batteries being
charged by this very same unit, and he wal ks up and
puts his hand against that pipe that's on that wall,
and feels that there is some suction there, are you
suggesting to ne, that in that situation you won't get
a citation? That inspector is perfectly content that
the air is being ventilated in that?

THE W TNESS: They were.
JUDGE KQUTRAS: That's what happened?

THE W TNESS: They were, yes, sir. | went with many of
them and yes, they did. That's exactly what they did.
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Wth
stated as

JUDGE KQUTRAS: That's exactly what they do. But,
this man that cane in there to inspect, used
sonet hing el se, he used a snoke tube?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And, he found that it wasn't going
t hrough that pipe, all of it wasn't going through?

THE W TNESS: Not enough to suit him yes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: To suit him | could care | ess whether
it suits himor not. |I'mconcerned whether it suits
t he- -

THE W TNESS: No, but, what I'msaying is that the other
i nspectors that cane into the mne, and | acconpani ed
many of them it suited themthe way it was.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wiat, in your opinion, is the proper way
to check to see whether or not air is going through the
return? Put your hand agai nst the pipe, or to break
snoke tubes?

THE W TNESS: W' ve never broke any snoke tubes, no.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: | didn't ask you that. Wat do you think
is the proper way to detern ne?

THE WTNESS: Well, | am saying, ny proper way, if | had
a three or four inch pipe there, and it wasn't broken
anywhere, and it was draw ng, yes, that would satisfy
ne.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: That woul d satisfy you?

THE W TNESS: VYes.

regard to M. Burnatti's snoke tube tests, M. Korber
follows (Tr. 162-164):

JUDGE KQUTRAS: When he tested it, he said that he
tested it in five different places. You heard his
testi mony?

THE W TNESS: Yes.
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JUDGE KOQUTRAS: He broke five snoke tubes?

THE WTNESS: That's what he says, yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: On the 18th?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Do you question that? Did he break five?
THE WTNESS: | wouldn't say five. He broke snoke tubes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: He broke smoke tubes. Did he break sone
over the batteries that were on the scoop?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And, where did the snoke go?

THE W TNESS: When he broke the snoke tube over the
batteries on the scoop, sone snmoke would go out the

pi pe, some would swirl around and it was hard to say
where it was goi ng.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: This was visually?

THE WTNESS: Yes. It was, you have an anount of

turbul ence in that crosscut where your charger is, any
charger is, and it's hard to say where the snoke goes.
JUDGE KQUTRAS: Was there turbul ence over the batteries?
THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wiy was there turbul ence over the
batteries?

THE WTNESS: That's about halfway in the crosscut.
JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, the batteries--

THE W TNESS: Back, way back against the wall you won't
have turbul ence, no.
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And, at Tr. 166-168:

THE WTNESS: I'mtelling you, the way it swirls, sonme
is going to swirl around and start going out the pipe,
and sone is going to swirl around and go down the

i nt ake.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: The sanme thing would apply to the
battery charging unit, wouldn't it?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: It will swirl. Sone will go one way, and
some will go the other?

THE WTNESS: On the charging unit?
JUDGE KQUTRAS: Ri ght.

THE W TNESS: Most of it would swirl around and go down
t he i ntake because, it's further out.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: None of it would go in the return?

THE WTNESS: |'d say, very little.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. Now, it's stated, it says that air
currents used to ventilate that the assenbly requires
you to ventilate the batteries and the battery chargi ng
unit, and it says it has to go to the return. So, would
you agree that in that situation with the swirling

goi ng down the entry, none of it goes to the return?
THE W TNESS: Just over the batteries.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Over the charging unit?

THE W TNESS: Over the charging unit, yes. Very little
woul d go to the return.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Very little would go to the return,
right?

THE W TNESS: Yes.
JUDGE KOUTRAS: It would be a violation, wouldn't it?

THE W TNESS: According to that day, | would say, yes.
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JUDGE KQUTRAS: Wiy was he insistent that you nove
that unit, do you know?

THE W TNESS: Wl |, because when he was breaking his
snoke tube over top of it, nost of the snboke was going
down the intake.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, he assuned that if you noved the
unit, and then he broke his tube, nost of it would go
through the return, is that a fair assunption?

THE WTNESS: | would say that's what he assuned.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: But, nobody did that to see if he was
right or wong?

THE WTNESS: No, we didn't.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wouldn't that be a logical step for you
to take, and if he was proved right then you would have
the state people on your hands, right?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: So what? Now, you've got the federa
peopl e on your hands. So, who are you going to pacify?

THE W TNESS: Yeah but, then your just playing a gane,
when the state conmes you just pull it back out, and
when the federal conmes you just push it back in.

Andrew Sal ata, mne foreman, respondent's nmine 78, testified
as to his background and experience, including the preparation of
m ne ventilation plans (Tr. 199-201). M. Salata stated that he
first | earned about the citation on the afternoon of January 18,
1983, when M. Korber informed himthat |Inspector Burnatti wanted
the charging unit noved. The state inspector was at the mne that
day, and M. Salata indicated that he di scussed the matter with
him"a little bit" (Tr. 202). M. Salata inforned M. Korber that
t he charger couldn't be noved because "I can't violate the state
[aw' (Tr. 201).

M. Salata confirmed that he did not discuss the violation
with M. Burnatti on January 18, but the next day he met with him
at the charging station and M. Burnatti informed himthat he was
not satisfied with the amount of air going into the return
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M. Salata explained his problens with the state m ne inspector's
as follows (Tr. 205-206):

Q Now, to your know edge, had any ot her inspector
required Mne 78 to nove it's charger further into the
crosscut ?

A At first, we kept our chargers right back agai nst
the stopping. In 1978, the state cone out and they said
they do not want the chargers there because, there's a
good potential for an ignition.

They say, "you take your charger, nove it out into the
i ntake air. You charge your batteries in your regular
charging station.”

We had it sitting out there for, approximtely, two and
a half to three years. This was the way that it was
al ways done.

Then it conme around, about three years ago, they said
you just nove them just inby, nove themjust inby.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: This was the state?

THE WTNESS: The state and the federal all agreed to
this, they agreed. They'd walk by it constantly. And,
we' ver never had a problemw th the charging stations.

Now, again, they want to nmove it in. This is why I

tal ked with Frank Bahopin that day. And, he says, "You
can't nmove themin any. The closer you put themthe
closer to the ignition source you' re going to be.™

Al so, | nentioned the pipe, he definitely would not buy
t he pi pe because, they have a flier out on that since
1978.

I can't, you suggested in naking a choice, if | nmade a
chance, if the air would have passed over, we'd have
kept it going, if 1'd had an ignition, |I'mjust as
liable with the state as | amw th the federal

Referring to Inspector Burnatti's sketch, exhibit P-7, M.
Sal ata described the air flow and ventilation systemthrough the
charging station, and he stated that since the
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air is swirling it would be inpossible to test to see what anount
is going in one direction and what anount is going in the other
(Tr. 209).

On cross-exam nation, M. Salata indicated that a |arger
sized pi pe against the wall of the charging station would renove
nmore air into the return, and that where possible, charging
stations are located directly against the return. He conceded
that the state now allows himto nove the charging unit "a little
bit nmore inby," and that this occurred "two weeks later." He al so
indicated that M. Burnatti only suggested that the charging unit
be nmoved, and he did not say that he had to nove it in order to
abate the citation (Tr. 215-216).

Steven P. Sanders, respondent's chief nmine electrician
testified as to his mne experience and training. He confirnmed
that he was familiar with the battery charging station, and he
expl ai ned how the charging unit functions. He confirmed that it
was an A.C. unit, and he stated that the type of charging units
used in the mne produce very little gas. As conpared to a D.C.
unit, the A C. unit produces | ess heat and the units are provided
with several short circuit protective devices, including fusing
devices (Tr. 216-223). He also confirmed that the charging units
are inspected weekly, and that his records indicate that the unit
in question was | ast inspected January 3 and 12, 1983, prior to
the i ssuance of the citation (Tr. 223). The inspections did not
reveal any dangerous conditions on the units (Tr. 223). None of
the units at the mine have ever caught fire, and none "never even
get hot" (Tr. 224).

On cross-exam nation, M. Sanders stated that while he
didn't open the charging unit in question on January 18, 1983, he
conducted a visual inspection and detected no bare or frayed
edges, and "everything was restrained properly.” He did not
recall a piece of equipnent being charged that day (Tr. 224-225).

Charles F. Reamtestified that he was the second shift mne
foreman on the day the citation was issued, and he stated his
prior mne experience (Tr. 225-227). M. Ream described the work
that was performed to abate the citation, and it included the
dropping of electrical trolley wires, the use of 120 feet of
pi pe, the knocking out of a six-inch solid block wall with a
sl edge hammer, and sealing it with cenent. He indicated that two
men wor ked four hours to do the work, and that the entire job
took eight man hours to conplete (Tr. 228-229). After the four
i nch pipe was installed, he
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tested the air with snoke tubes, and he did so over the batteries
of the tractor or scoop which was at the charging station, as
wel | as over the charger itself, and he indicated a 60%

i nprovenent in the air flow over what it was with the three inch
pi pe (Tr. 230).

On cross-exam nation, M. Ream conceded that he did not take
a snoke test directly over the battery charging unit, but took it
i nside the charging station "up towards the wall," about ten feet
fromthe wall. He confirmed that he al so used a snoke tube to
test the air before he took the three inch pipe out, and he did
so to determ ne how much of an inprovenment he would have with the
four inch pipe (Tr. 232). He confirnmed that he was not present on
January 18 or 19, 1983, when M. Burnatti was at the mne (Tr.
234).

Robert DuBreucq, mne superintendent, testified as to his
background and experience, and he confirmed that he and the nine
foreman drafted and approved the mne ventilation plan (Tr.
2340- 236) .

M. DuBreucq stated that after he was informed that the
citation was issued, he instructed M. Reamto install a |arger
pi pe, and he confirmed that charging stations at the mne were
set up identically to the one cited by M. Burnatti. M. DuBreucq
confirmed that he called state inspector Frank Behopin on the
eveni ng of January 18, 1983, and he cane to the mne the next day
to speak to M. Burnatti, but mssed him(Tr. 238).

M. DuBreucq identified exhibit RR1 as a State of
Pennysl vani a nmenorandum dat ed June 13, 1978, and he expl ained the
interpretation concerning the location of charging units as
follows (Tr. 239-241):
Do you know who Walter J. Vicinelly is?
Director of Deep Mne Safety.
That's for the State of Pennsyl vani a?

Yes.

This neno is dated June 13, 1978?

> O » O > O

Yes.

. Now, | direct your attention to the second page of
this. Well, prior to going any further, | would nove
for Respondent's Exhibit 1 into evidence. | think the
rel evance has been shown that it was handed to hi m by
the state inspector as a body, and the interpretation
of state | aw
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Q On the second page of this, the paragraph that

i s underlined here, "accordi ngly, whenever the
charging battery in the chargers are ventil ated

by the same split of air, the air nust pass first
over the charger, and then over the batteries
before entering the return air." Now, that docunent
doesn't say that they have to be as far apart as
possi bl e, or that they have to be at the beginning,
at the entrance to the crosscut. Did M. Behopin

di scuss that with you at all, as to--

A. No, his interpretation of this, and the prior
according to what I'mtold anyway, the prior state

i nspector of '78, their interpretation was, you put the
charger out on the corner, the batteries as far back
the wall as possible. The nore you nmaxim ze the

di stance between the two, the less likely you ever have
a problem of the charger igniting gasses off the
battery.

Q Did M. Behopin, on January 19th, tell you what
position he would take on the noving of the charging
unit?

A. He said he didn't want it noved. And, that he would
talk to the federal people about it.

Q Did M. Behopin say that he would take any action if
you did nove?

A. He said it was the old cop routine again, you know,
he don't want it noved and that's it. But, he will, you
know, Frank is a reasonable man, and Frank said he
would talk to the federal and get this resolved, you
know.

Q Do you know whether he talked to M. Burnatti that
day?

A. He talked to Burnatti, and other people, what they
said, they never told ne.

Q Now, did there cone a tinme, sonetinme later, when M.
Behopi n said that he would permt you to nove the
chargers further into the crosscut?

A. This issue here went on for at |east two weeks. And,
then again, there was conversation between the state
and MSHA, at least what |'mtold,
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I don't know directly of them but, there was
conversations on this daggone thing that we're
on, and about three weeks |ater, the issue
di sappeared. That's how it is. It isn't that
we radically noved the charger anywhere, or
radically did anything. The issue sinply
di sappear ed.

M. DuBreucq stated that prior to M. Burnatti's inspection
ot her MBHA inspectors would check the vent pipe to determ ne
whet her the air was going through the pipe. This was done by
breaki ng a snoke tube near the pipe, and no one expected all of
the air in the station to vent through that pipe (Tr. 245).

I nspector Burnatti was recalled by the bench, and he stated
that on January 18, 1983, his notes reflect that no equi pment was
in the charging station, but that at the time the order issued
the next day, a Kersey tractor was there (Tr. 285). He al so
stated that he was not present when the respondent was abating
the condition, and he explained as follows (Tr. 287-289):

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Right. So, as far as you were concer ned

since they still didn't have the--and the broke sone
addi ti onal snoke tubes, and you found that they were
still having the sane problem as far as you were

concerned they hadn't achi eved conpliance?
THE W TNESS: No

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And, based on what you saw, you didn't
think that they did very much work there?

THE WTNESS: Umhmm Little or none

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Little or none? Had M. Reamtold you
or had you inquired of M. Ream and he told you that
they did four hours, that they dropped the trolley
wire, they did all these things, and he testified too,
woul d your position be different?

THE W TNESS: No

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Wy?

THE W TNESS: Because, | don't feel that's an honest
effort to correct the condition
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JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wl |, what else can they do, as of
t hat point?

THE WTNESS: Well, for one thing, | nmade suggesti ons,

you know, | don't want to keep harping on this charging
unit but, as long as you continue to let that unit sit
t here, okay? There is no way in hell, excuse the

expression, that you're going to gain conpliance.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Well, that's the whol e point though. So
you did stress the noving of the unit?

THE W TNESS: Ch, yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And, that's why | asked them why they
didn't do it to experinent.

THE WTNESS: | al so suggested defl ecti ve canvas,
building a wall, they suggested building a wall across
the entire intake entry, which is ridiculous. But,
again, if they want to do it that way that's their
prerogative

JUDGE KQUTRAS: All right. You heard the testinony about
the swirling. That due to the location of this place,
some of the air is going to go down the entry, and al
of it is not going to go through the exhaust pipe,
that's true isn't it? And, that's why you issued the
citation?

THE WTNESS: Yes. Like he testified, |ike M. Hadden
testified, that's standard, that's true.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And, your interpretation is that a
hundred percent, that every bit of air that goes in is
used to ventilate the battery charging station, or the
batteries, has to go out that?

THE WTNESS: Yes, that's nmy training, CM training
that's what it was. The air current ventilating the
charging station nust be directed to the return, and
that's the air current. If it's out there in that
turbulence, | can't help that. That's the air current.
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JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, your theory was that that was
part of the problemstationed where it was, and

had they nmoved it further in it wouldn't be sitting
there, is that right?

THE WTNESS: That's true. Possibly.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Woul d that cause thema | ogistica
pr obl enf

THE WTNESS: | don't know what you nean

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: What |'msaying is, is the position of
the battery charging unit, why does the operator insist
on having it there?

THE WTNESS: Well, their reasoning was due to the
state.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Forget the state. Does it make it
easier, or nore difficult to charge a piece of
equi prent ? Does it make any difference?

THE WTNESS: It doesn't matter. The piece of equi pnent
comes with so many | engths of cable, to reach the
machi ne, so, it can be positioned anywhere. And, does
it mtter? No, I'd say it's no matter of a convenience
for anybody.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

In this case the issue is whether or not the respondent

violated the provisions of cited mandatory standard 30 CF. R [
75. 1105, which states as foll ows:

Under ground transforner stations, battery-charging
stations, substations, conpressor stations, shops, and
per manent punps shall be housed in fireproof structures
or areas. Air currents used to ventilate structures or
areas enclosing electrical installations shall be
coursed directly into the return. O her underground
structures installed in a coal mne as the Secretary
may prescribe shall be of fireproof construction

The petitioner's proposal for assessnment of civil penalty

seeks a penalty assessment of $650 for the violation cited in the
section 104(a) Citation No. 2015155, issued by Inspector Burnatti
on January 18, 1983. The subsequent section 104(b) Order issued
by I nspector Burnatti when he found that the cited
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condi tions were not abated to his satisfaction is not in issue in
this civil penalty case, and the petitioner does not include that
Order as part of its proposal for assessnent of civil penalty.
However, while the question of tinely abatenment and whet her or
not the inspector abused his discretion in not extending the
abatement tine is not directly at issue in this case, | have
taken respondent’'s abatenent efforts into consideration in
considering the el ement of good faith conpliance found in section
110(i) of the Act. In short, | have considered this question in
the assessnent levied by me for the violation in question

Fact of violation

In defense of the citation, the respondent argues that since
the three-inch pipe was drawing sonme air to the return on January
18, there was no viol ation. Respondent asserts that MSHA' s
interpretation of the second sentence of section 75.1105, that
all air currents used to ventilate areas enclosing a battery
charging station shall be coursed into the return is a "new
interpretation and contrary to its previous policy which did not
require all air currents to be vented into the return. According
to the respondent, this prior policy was consistent with the
evi dence at hearing that it was not possible to course all air
currents to the return

Respondent's defense is rejected. | cannot conclude fromthe
record here that the respondent has established that MSHA s
policy was that all air need not be coursed into the return
Sinmply because other inspectors prior to M. Burnatti's
i nspection saw fit not to utilize snoke tubes to determ ne where
the air was being coursed is insufficient to establish any such
asserted policy. To the contrary, | find the testinmony of MSHA' s
Wi tnesses on this issue to be credible, and | accept their
interpretation of the standard in this case. The desi gnhated
| anguage of section 75.1105, requires air currents used to
ventilate such battery charging areas to be coursed directly into
the return. The | anguages seens clear to nme, and respondent has
not established that the intent of the cited standard was to
permt less than all of the air to be coursed into the return

Section 75.1105 requires that air used to ventilate battery
charging stations be directed into the return. The standard is
clear on its face. It does not state that only "sonme of the air"
or "nost of the air" nmust be coursed into the return. It sinply
states "air." The inspector's interpretation is that all such air
nmust be coursed into the return, and | accept this
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as a logical interpretation and application of the standard.
Respondent concedes that all of the air was not coursed into the
return. Further, petitioner has established a prinma facie case by
a preponderance of the credible testinony presented to support
the citation, and the respondent has not rebutted this show ng by
the petitioner. Accordingly, the citation IS AFFI RVED

Al t hough | recogni ze the respondent’'s plight in attenpting
to pacify certain State mning i nspectors who insisted that the
cited battery charging unit not be noved fromthe |ocation where
the inspector found it, this fact does not excuse the citation
nor may it serve as an absolute defense to the citation, nor may
it serve as an absolute defense to the citation. However, | have
considered this fact as mitigating the respondent’'s cul pability,
and | have taken it into consideration in negligence findings.

Good Faith Conpliance

In their posthearing briefs, the parties include the
qguestion of the validity of a section 104(c) Order of Wthdrawal,
No. 2015156, issued by Inspector Burnatti on January 19, 1983,
after he found that "little or no effort” was nade to abate the
conditions which pronpted himto issue his section 104(a)
citation, No. 2015155, on January 18, 1983.

Al t hough the issue of "good faith" conpliance is relevant in
this civil penalty case, the validity of the order is not an
i ssue here. The question presented is whether or not the
respondent violated section 75.1105, as alleged in the section
104(a) citation, No. 2015155, issued by |Inspector Burnatti on
January 18, 1983. MsSHA's proposal for assessnment of civil penalty
islimted to that citation, and does not include the order. In
short, | conclude that MSHA is bound by its pleadings, and may
not now seek to expand on its civil penalty proposal by addi ng
t he order.

In its posthearing brief, MSHA argues that the respondent
exhibited "bad faith" in abating the citation. MSHA s concl usi on
inthis regard is based on the fact that Inspector Burnatti
i ssued a section 104(b) w thdrawal order. Further, MSHA asserts
that the inspector was never informed of respondent’'s abatenent
efforts, nor was he infornmed concerning how many hours were spent
on the abatenent work, or whether a work stoppage had to occur in
order to work on the abatenent.
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After observing the witnesses during the hearing, and upon cl ose
exam nation of all of the testinmony in this case, | am convinced
that I nspector Burnatti was chagri ned because the respondent
failed to nove the cited unit to another |ocation, and that the
respondent initially resisted other recommendati ons which he
purportedly suggested. For its part, the respondent resisted
nmovi ng the unit because to do so would violate state | aw. MSHA
concedes that the state law "is in conflict" with the Federa
standards. Viewed in this context, | cannot conclude that on the
facts of this case, respondent nmade "little or no effort" to
abate the cited conditions.

VWiile it may be true that the respondent shoul d have
conducted nore extensive snoke tests once its initial abatenent
efforts were conpleted to insure that all of the air coursing
over the unit was going out of the return, the record here does
support a finding that the respondent did in fact performwork to
achi eve conpliance

The record here indicates that the respondent had never
previously been issued a section 104(b) order for failure to
abate any cited conditions in its mne, and this includes a
peri od of sone seven years during which the m ne was inspected.
am convi nced that |Inspector Burnatti honestly believed that
sinmply nmoving the unit woul d have achi eved conpliance. However,
when this nove met with resistance, he obviously believed that
"little or no effort” was made by the respondent to achieve
abat ement. However, faced with an obvious conflict with the state

m ni ng i nspectors, | cannot conclude that the respondent's
reluctance to initially nmove the unit to another |ocation
constitutes "little or no effort” to abate.

Shift foreman Korber confirmed that as soon as the battery
charging unit was cited, he pulled the power and tagged the unit
power plug to prevent anyone fromusing it until the cited
conditions could be corrected. M. Korber then i mediately his
supervisors who instructed himto obtain the necessary materials
to abate the conditions. A new ventilation pipe was installed,
and a check curtain was installed in an attenpt to correct the
cited ventilation problem

Shift foreman Ream described the work which was perforned in
correcting the cited conditions, and this work included the use
of 120 feet of pipe, the knocking out and re-sealing of a cinder
bl ock wall, and the re-arranging of certain wiring. He testified
that it took two nen four hours to do this work.
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MSHA | nspector Al sop abated the citation on January 20, 1983.
Since he did, | assune he was satisfied with the respondent's
abatenment efforts, and he confirnmed that the UMA wal kar ound
representative expressed satisfaction over the respondent's
abatenment efforts.

In view of the foregoing, |I conclude and find that the
violation was abated in good faith, and this is reflected in the
civil penalty assessed by nme in this case.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Cvil Penalty on the Respondent's
Ability to Continue in Business.

Based on the stipulations by the parties, | conclude that
the respondent, as a corporate operator, is a large mne
operator. However, its Wnber Mne 78 operation is a
smal | -t o- medi um si zed operation

The parties have stipulated that a reasonable penalty
assessnment for the violation in question will not adversely
affect the respondent’'s ability to continue in business. Since
bel i eve that the penalty assessed by nme for the violation in
guestion is reasonable, | conclude and find that it will not
adversely affect the respondent’'s ability to continue in
busi ness.

H story of Prior Violations

The parties have stipulated to the respondent's prior
history of violations, and this is recited at pages 2-3 of this
deci sion. For an operation of its size, | cannot concl ude that
this conmpliance history warrants any additional increase in the
civil penalty assessed by nme for the violation in question

Negl i gence

I nspector Burnatti conceded that he found "Il ow negligence”
in connection with the section 104(a) citation, and he explains
his reasons for this finding (Tr. 41). Respondent has established
t hrough credi bl e evidence and testi nony, which is not rebutted by
the petitioner, that it located the battery charger in question
where it did because a State inspector insisted that it not be
noved fromthat l[ocation. | have considered this fact in
mtigation of the penalty assessed for the violation. However, |
believe that with a little nore diligence, including the use of
snoke tubes as a preventive neasure, as well as sone
experimentation concerning the possible relocation of the battery
charging unit, the respondent nmay have avoi ded the NMSHA
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citation. Accordingly, I conclude and find that the violation
resulted fromthe respondent's failure to exercise reasonabl e
care, and that this supports a finding of ordinary negligence.

Gavity

I nspector Burnatti testified that when he first observed the
battery charging unit, he visually inspected it and found not hi ng
defective. He confirned that since no equi pnent was bei ng charged
at that time, no hydrogen gas was present. He nade no tests for
t he presence of any such gas, and this was true even when he went
back the next day and found a piece of equi pnent being charged.
His concern was that in the event of a fire, the ventilation
whi ch caused the air going over the charging unit to go down the
i ntake rather than the return would carry snoke to the working
section. He then indicated that even if this were to occur, no
"fatal or permanent disabling” injuries would result because the
section had a second alternative escapeway avail able for the
m ners working in the section

Respondent's chief electrician Sanders testified that he
visually inspected the battery charging unit the day the citation
i ssued and found nothing wong with it. He also confirned that he
had | ast inspected that unit on January 3, and 12, 1983, and
found it to be in proper operating condition. He explained the
operation of the unit, and detailed the functioning of the
protective fusing and short circuit fuses and ot her devices which
are engi neered to preclude overheating and fires. UMM wal kar ound
representative Morgatt, who al so serves as the chairman of the
m ne safety commttee, testified that he was with the inspector
when the citation issued, and that shift foreman Korber
i medi ately tagged out the unit when informed of the citation
M. Mrgatt could not recall whether any equi pnent was being
charged at that time, and he did not indicate that he observed
anything wong with the unit itself.

After careful consideration of all of the evidence adduced
in this case, | conclude and find that the violation was serious.
In the event of any arcing or sparking during the battery
re-charging procedure, it seens clear to ne that any resulting
fire or short circuiting would present the possibility of
contam nated air being coursed into the working faces.

Signi ficant and Substanti al
I conclude and find that the inspector's finding that the

vi ol ati on was significant and substantial should be affirned.
Al t hough | have considered the respondent’'s argunments concerning
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the positioning of the battery charging unit in question, the
fact is that any fire or other incident resulting fromall of the
air not being venting into the return would jeopardize the health
and safety of mners on the section and would reasonably I|ikely
result in a hazard to the mners. Accordingly, the inspector's
finding in this regard IS AFFI RVED

Penal ty Assessnent

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirenments of section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude and find that a civil penalty assessnent of $350
is appropriate for the violation in question

O der

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessnent
of $350 within thirty (30) days of the date of this decision, and
upon recei pt of payment by the petitioner, this case is
di sm ssed

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



